IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-CA-01273

GWENN JENKINS, ON BEHALF OF THE DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF THOMAS JENKINS, DECEASED V.

APPELLANT

FRANK TUCKER, M..D., AND JEFF ANDERSON REGIONAL MEMORIAL CENTER D/B/A ANDERSON INFIRMARY BENEVOLENT CORP ASSOCIATIONS

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LAUDERDALE COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT (Oral Argument Requested)

Of Counsel:

Kenneth C. Miller, MSB No. DANKS, MILLER, HAMER & CORY Post Office Box 1759
Jackson, Mississippi 39215-1759
Telephone: 601.957.3101

Don Evans, MSB Notes 500 East Capitol Street
Jackson, Mississippi 39201

Facsimile: 601.957.3160

Telephone: 601.969.2006

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

Statement of the Issues

1. Whether the trial court erred in granting the Defendants' Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute?

Statement of the Case

A. Statement of the Proceedings Below and Timeline.

- 1. On February 20, 2001, attorney Don H. Evans filed suit on behalf of the wrongful death beneficiaries of Thomas Jenkins (hereafter "the Plaintiffs) against Frank Tucker, M.D. and Jeff Anderson Regional Memorial Center d/b/a Anderson Infirmary Benevolent Corporation Association (hereafter "the Defendants"). (R. at 2-9; RE at 23). The Complaint alleged that the Defendants were guilty of negligence in their treatment and care of Thomas Jenkins which caused or contributed to his death. (R. at 2-9; RE at 23).
- 2. On March 20, 2001, Defendant Tucker filed an Answer (R. at 33) and on March 23, 2001, the Defendant Hospital filed its answer. (R. at 40).
 - 3. On July 26, 2001, the Plaintiff filed responses to Dr. Tucker's discovery requests which

included the Plaintiff's initial expert designation. (R. at 53).

- 4. On October 4, 2001, Defendant Tucker issued various subpoenas which sought the production of deceased's medical records. (R. at 63-74).
- 5. On May 12, 2003, the Defendant Hospital filed a Motion for Stay of Proceedings due to the insolvency of its insurance carrier. (R. at 90-142). The Defendant Hospital never noticed this Motion for hearing. Rather, and as occurred in many similar pending cases, Plaintiff's counsel simply agreed to the stay request.
- 6. On July 23, 2003, the Defendant Hospital filed a second Motion for Stay of Proceedings and Other Relief. (R. at 143-56). The Defendant Hospital did not notice this motion for hearing as the Plaintiff again agreed to the stay.
- 7. On March 24, 2005, the Clerk of Lauderdale County filed a Clerk's Motion to Dismiss for Want of Prosecution. (R. at 157). In response, attorney Don Evans wrote the Circuit Clerk explaining the case had been delayed to the insolvency of the Hospital's insurance company and that he had recently requested dates for the depositions of the Defendants. (R. at 158-160). However, the Defendants never responded to this request for deposition dates.
- 8. On July 13, 2006, the Clerk of Lauderdale County filed a second Clerk's Motion to Dismiss for Want of Prosecution. In response to this second motion to dismiss, attorney Don Evans immediately associated Kenneth C. Miller to ensure that the case would be promptly moved toward trial.
- 9. On July 18, 2006, Kenneth C. Miller entered his appearance on behalf of the Plaintiff, and filed a motion for trial setting. (R. at 162-65).
- 10. On August 31, 2006, the Defendant Hospital filed its own Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute. (R. at 166; RE at 19).

- 11. On September 11, 2006, the Plaintiff timely file her Response to the Defendants' Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute. (R. at 186; RE at 39).
- 12. On October 18, 2006, the Plaintiff's Motion for a Trial Date was noticed to be heard on November 30, 2006. On October 23, 2006, the motion was re-noticed for November 30, 2006. (R. at 202). On November 15, 2006, the Defendants noticed their Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute for November 30, 2006. (R. at 206).
- 13. On November 27, 2006, the Plaintiff filed responses to Defendant Hospital's previously filed discovery. (R. at 208).
- 14. On April 25, 2007, the Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute was again re-noticed for hearing on May 17, 2007. (R. at 210). On May 10, 2007, the Plaintiff also re-noticed the hearing on the Motion for a Trial Date for May 17, 2007. (R. at 212).
- 15. On May 17, 2007, a hearing was held before the Circuit Court of Lauderdale County. On June 20, 2007, the Circuit Court dismissed the Plaintiff's Complaint and entered a Memorandum Opinion and Judgment. (R. at 216; RE at 4). The Plaintiff timely served her Notice of Appeal on July 19, 2006. (R. at 251).

B. Statement of the Facts

On February 20, 1999, Thomas Jenkins was admitted to Anderson Hospital with three gunshot wounds. Mr. Jenkins ultimately died on December 20, 1999, due to the alleged failure of the Defendants to recognized and treat certain complications from the initial gunshot wounds. An autopsy of Thomas Jenkins revealed that he died as a result of hemorrhagic necrosis, with the underlying cause being a post remote gunshot wound to his abdomen.

The Complaint was filed on February 20, 2001, in Lauderdale County. From the time of filing through October 18, 2001, the case proceeded in a timely manner with the parties filing

discovery and requesting by subpoena certain medical records of the deceased..

No action of record was taken between October 18, 2001 and May 12, 2003 when the Defendant Hospital filed its Motion to Stay Proceedings. Thereafter on June 23, 2003, the Defendant Hospital filed a second Motion to Stay Proceedings because its carrier had been placed in liquidation. Neither of these motions were set for hearing because the Plaintiff acquiesced in the requested stay.

There was no further action of record after the filing of the Defendant Hospital's second motion to stay until March 24, 2005, when the Lauderdale County Circuit Clerk filed its first Motion to Dismiss for Want of Prosecution. On April 12, 2005, the Plaintiff responded to the Motion by sending a letter to the Clerk requesting that the Clerk not dismiss the action for want of prosecution, and explaining that the Plaintiff had taken no action over the previous fifteen months because the Defendant's insurer had been in receivership and liquidation. The letter also advised the trial court that Mr. Evans had contacted defense counsel to set depositions. However, the Defendants never responded to this request.

On July 13, 2006, the Lauderdale County Circuit Clerk filed a second Motion to Dismiss for Want of Prosecution. In response to this second motion to dismiss, Don Evans immediately associated Ken Miller to ensure that the case was timely moved toward trial. Thereafter, on July 19, 2006, the an Entry of Appearance was filed by Kenneth C. Miller along with a Motion for Trial Setting.

On August 31, 2006, Anderson Hospital filed a Motion to Dismiss for Failure to prosecute which was joined by Defendant Tucker. The Defendants complained in this motion that the Plaintiff had failed to prosecute this case for approximately <u>sixty-one months</u>, and that the case should be dismissed because the Plaintiff's attempt to set the case for trial was too little too late.

The hearing on the Defendant's Motion To Dismiss For Failure to Prosecute was ultimately

heard on May 17, 2007. Thereafter on June 20, 2007, the Circuit Court granted the motion and dismissed the Plaintiff's Complaint. While the trial court in its Order dismissing the case correctly identified the various factors that must be analyzed when a motion to dismiss for failure to prosecute is filed under Rule 41(b), the trial court abused its discretion in concluding that these factors weighed in favor of dismissing the case. As the trial court correctly noted in its Order, the factors that are to be considered are: (1) whether there is a clear record of delay; (2) whether lessor sanctions would be futile; (3) the extent to which the Plaintiff, as distinguished from Plaintiff's counsel, was personally responsible for the delay; (4) the degree of actual prejudice to the defendant; and, (5) whether the delay was the result of intentional conduct. *Mississippi Dept. Of Human Services v. Guidry*, 830 So.2d 628, 632 (Miss. 2002). However, a review of the Order of the trial court reveals that the factors were not properly considered as the opinion is conclusory in nature and devoid of any actual factual findings.

Summary of the Argument

This Court should reverse the trial court's dismissal of this matter and remand this case back to the trial court. In reviewing a trial court's decision under Rule 41(b), this Court may only reverse the trial court if it finds that the trial court abused its discretion. *Mississippi Dept. Of Human Services v. Guidry*, 830 So.2d 628, 632 (Miss. 2002). Further, the Mississippi Supreme Court has unequivocally stated that because the law favors a trial on the issues on the merits, a dismissal for lack of prosecution is employed reluctantly. *Mississippi Dept. Of Human Services* at 632. In *Guidry*, the Mississippi Supreme Court analyzed Mississippi state case law and Fifth Circuit law and applied those standards to determine whether or not a Chancellor abused its discretion. *Id.* at 632-33. Importantly, the Mississippi Supreme Court found that Rule 41(b) dismissals with prejudice will be affirmed only upon a showing of a clear record of delay or contumacious conduct by the plaintiff and

where lesser sanctions would not serve the best interests of justice. *Id.* (Citing *Rogers*, 669 F.2d at 320(quoting *Pond v. Braniff Airways, Inc.*, 453 F.2d 347, 349 (5th Cir. 1972))). See also, *McGowan v. Faulkner Concrete Pipe Co.*, 659 F.2d 554, 556 (5th Cir. 1981); *Gray v. Fid. Acceptance Corp*, 634 F.2d 226, 227 (5th Cir. 1981); *Luna v. I'ntl Ass'n of Machinists and Aerospace Workers*, 614 F.2d 529, 531 (5th Cir. 1980). The Fifth Circuit also identified several aggravating factors which the Mississippi Supreme Court adopted and these include the extent to which the plaintiff, as distinguished from his counsel, was personally responsible for the delay, the degree of actual prejudice to the defendant and whether the delay was the result of intentional conduct. *Id.* (Citing *Rogers*, 669 F.2d at 320).

In this case the trial court did make a finding of clear delay. Further, the trial court, also found that "considering the history of this case at bar, other sanctions available would be futile. To merely fine or sanction the Plaintiff for the delay in this action will not remedy the fact that the Plaintiff delayed for fourteen months in the prosecution of this action, after being provided by this Court another chance to do so after the Clerk's first Motion to Dismiss." The finding regarding the unavailability of a lesser sanction was an abuse of the discretion by the trial court. There is simply no indication that any alternative sanctions were considered by the Court to expedite the proceedings. Clearly it does not meet the *Guidry* guidelines. In fact, two sentences in a fourteen page decision is evidence itself that alternative sanctions were not truly considered. More important, is that there is no rational provided by the Court as to why alternative sanctions would not have been sufficient, in light of the fact that a Motion for Trial Setting was pending, all discovery had been responded to by the time of the hearing, experts had been identified by the Plaintiff and the case was ready to proceed to trial after a few discovery depositions. Even more important is that the trial court failed to consider these factors in its decision when it had specifically stated in its Opinion that they were to be

considered: including the extent to which the plaintiff, as distinguished from his counsel was personally responsible for the delay, the degree of actual prejudice to the defendant and whether the delay was the result of intentional conduct. As to these factors none exist. There is simply no evidence that Plaintiff was personally responsible for the delay. There is simply no evidence that the Defendants suffered any actual prejudice, in fact their Motion does not reference any prejudice resulting from the delay. Finally, there is simply no evidence that the delay was the result of intentional conduct, especially given the fact that the Plaintiff was prepared to move this matter to trial of which the trial court was aware.

Argument

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO DISMISS FOR WANT OF PROSECUTION

The only issue before this Court is whether the trial court abused its discretion by granting the Defendants' Motion to Dismiss for Want of Prosecution. In situations such as this, the Mississippi Supreme Court has a long established preference for a trial on the merits and has repeatedly stated that dismissals for lack of prosecution should be employed reluctantly. *Mississippi Dept. Of Human Services* at 632. The law favors a trial because dismissal is an extreme and harsh sanction that deprives a litigant of the opportunity to pursue his claim, and as such dismissals which terminate a Plaintiff's right to bring an action before the merits have been decided are reserved for the most egregious cases. *Wallace v. Jones*, 572 So.2d 371, 376 (Miss. 1990)(citing, *Rogers v. Kroger Co.*, 669 F.2d 317 (5th Cir.1982). Further, what constitutes the failure to prosecute, and therefore what action or inaction warrants dismissal, depends on the facts of the particular case. *Wallace*, 572 So.2d at 376. Finally, in *American Tel. and Tel. v. Days Inn of Winona*, 720 So.2d 178, 182 (Miss. 1998) the Mississippi Supreme Court stated that:

The theme running through the cases involving Rule 41(b) is that negligence or inexcusable conduct on the part of plaintiff's counsel does not in itself justify dismissal with prejudice. See, e.g., Rogers, 669 F.2d at 322-23; McGowan, 659 F.2d at 558. This is not to say that the lower court is powerless to deal with derelictions of duty by counsel. We make clear that upon remand the circuit court may impose such reasonable sanctions, short of dismissal, on At & T or its present attorneys as the court may find appropriate. See, e.g., Gonzalez v. Firestone Tire & Rubber Co., 610 F.2d 241, 248 (5th Cir. 1980).

American Tel. and Tel. v. Days Inn of Winona, 720 So.2d 178, 182 (Miss. 1998).

In this case the record shows that the reasoning utilized by the trial court in dismissing this case was completely contrary to the actual facts, and was inconsistent with a fair and consistent application of the previous guidelines and decisions by this Court. *Wallace*, 572 So.2d at 376. In this case, this Court need look no further than the five factors set out by the trial court to be weighed and considered in reaching its decision which were: (1) whether there is a clear record of delay; (2) whether lessor sanctions would be futile; (3) the extent to which the Plaintiff, as distinguished from Plaintiff's counsel, was personally responsible for the delay; (4) the degree of actual prejudice to the defendant; and, (5) whether the delay was the result of intentional conduct.

(1) There was no clear record of delay attributable to the Plaintiff

There is no dispute that this case sat idle at various times, and that at other times the case was not aggressively pursed by Plaintiff's counsel. However, looking at the numerous cases cited by the trial court in its opinion, that fact alone is not sufficient to support a dismissal for failure to prosecute. Nevertheless, the majority of the trial court's opinion is spent discussing the delay the trial court attributed to Plaintiff's counsel. But, in this case it is clear from the record that the delay that occurred prior to the filing of the first Clerk's motion to dismiss for want of prosecution was not entirely due to the failure of Plaintiff's counsel to push the case. Instead, this period of delay was

largely occasioned by the two motions to stay filed by the Defendant Hospital's as a result of its insurer becoming insolvent, and by the Defendant Hospital not notifying the Plaintiff that the need for the requested stay no longer existed.

With respect to the second motion to dismiss, the facts do not support the trial court's conclusion that Mr. Evans was the sole cause of the additional 14 month delay that occurred after the filing of the first Clerk's motion to dismiss. What the facts show is that Mr. Evans, by letter dated April 11, 2005, to the Defendant Hospital's attorney, made the following request for deposition dates:

I attempted to reach you by phone today to obtain some deposition dates. I am attempting to set the depositions of Brian Eifrt, M.D., Amanda Hajar-Hajan and Wanda Cooper in the above referenced civil action. I have consulted Chris Walker, attorney for Dr. Tucker, and he is available on 4/20 and 4/21 and any day of the week of May 2, 2005. Please consult your calendar as well as the above individual's calendars and see what dates are acceptable...

The Defendant's did not respond to this request. As any practicing civil attorney is well aware, civil cases are not simply a one-way street with the Plaintiff controlling all aspects of case management. Civil litigation is a two-way street, and unfortunately at times, cases get derailed when parties do not respond to one another discovery requests.

After receiving the second Clerk's Motion to Dismiss, Mr. Evans promptly associated Kenneth Miller, who immediately entered an appearance and filed a Motion for Trial Setting. Following these filings by the Plaintiff, the Defendants filed their Motion to Dismiss for Want of Prosecution. During this time period, and leading up to the hearing on the Motion to Dismiss, various conversations were initiated by Plaintiff's counsel to move the case forward, i.e. for deposition dates, and Plaintiff's counsel noticed the hearing for the Motion for Trial Date prior to the Defendants noticing their hearing on the Motion to Dismiss for Want of Prosecution. Further all discovery was answered, including the delinquent discovery responses owed to the Defendant hospital prior to the

hearing.1

As a practical matter, if it is not the law in Mississippi, it should be the law that a Defendant waives its right to move to dismiss for failure to prosecute under the specific terms of Rule 41(b) if he/she waits to file such a motion until after the Plaintiff has taken active steps to get a case back on track and begins to actively prosecute the case. Whitten v. Whitten, 956 So.2d 1093 (Miss. App. 2007)(recognizing waiver of defenses in certain circumstances).

While this case did not progress in a timely manner, there was no clear record of delay attributable exclusively to Plaintiff's counsel. Rather, the record demonstrates that the actions and/or inactions of the Defendants also contributed to the delay. The Plaintiff never violated any order of the trial court while at the same time the Defendants never requested a scheduling order, filed a motion to compel, or took any other action to move the case forward. Because there is no clear record of delay attributable exclusively to the Plaintiff, the decision of the trial court to dismiss this case must be reversed.

(2) the sanction of dismissal is clearly excessive and is unsupported by the record

This Court has adopted the standard that prior to affirming a trial court's dismissal for want of prosecution, the trial court must show that lesser sanctions would not serve the best interest of justice. American Tel. and Tel. v. Days Inn of Winona, 720 So.2d 178, 181 (Miss. 1998)(citing, Rogers v. Kroger Co., 669 F.2d 317 (5th Cir.1982). In American Tel., the Mississippi Supreme Court made it clear that prior to affirming a dismissal, the trial court was required to show not only a clear record of delay but that lesser sanctions would have been futile and would not serve the best interest

¹ It should be notes that the Court in its memorandum noted the delay in answering the Hospital's discovery. However, it should be noted that the Hospital never filed a motion to compel in regards to the delinquent discovery.

of justice. American Tel. and Tel., 720 So.2d at 181. Where there is no indication in the record that the lower court considered any alternative sanctions to expedite the proceedings, appellate courts are less likely to uphold a Rule 41(b) dismissal. American Tel. and Tel., 720 So.2d at 182.

In this case the trial court's opinion only addresses this requirement in a conclusory manner.

The trial court, without discussion or explanation, simply stated its opinion that:

considering the history of this case at bar, other sanctions available would be futile. To merely fine or sanction the Plaintiff for the delay in this action will not remedy the fact that the Plaintiff delayed for fourteen months in the prosecution of this action, after being provided by this Court another chance to do so after the Clerk's first Motion to Dismiss.

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