IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

GWEN JENKINS, ON BEHALF OF THE DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF THOMAS JENKINS, DECEASED

APPELLANT

VS.

ſ

ţ

£

İ,

—

i

Case No.: 2007-CA-01273

FRANK TUCKER, M.D., AND JEFF ANDERSON REGIONAL MEMORIAL CENTER D/B/A ANDERSON INFIRMARY BENEVOLENT CORP ASSOCIATIONS

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLEE, JEFF ANDERSON REGIONAL MEMORIAL CENTER d/b/a ANDERSON INFIRMARY BENEVOLENT CORP ASSOCIATIONS

ROMNEY H. ENTREKIN {MB GRAYSON LACEY {MB GHOLSON BURSON ENTREKIN & ORR, PA

535 N. 5th AVENUE P.O. Box 1289 Laurel, MS 39441-1289 (601) 649-4440

Attorneys for the Appellee, Jeff Anderson Regaional Memorial Center d/b/a Anderson Infirmary Benevolent Corp Associations

i

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
A. Standard of Review for a Rule 41(b) Dismissal5
 B. It is Undisputed that the Dismissal is Supported by a Clear Record of Delay
C. Aggravating Factors Only "Bolster" the Case for Dismissal, but are Not Required
D. Lesser Sanctions were Considered by the Trial Court and Found to be "Futile"
E. The Substantial Delays, At Least in Part, are Attributable to Plaintiff, Individually9
F. While Not Required, Jeff Anderson was Prejudiced by Plaintiff's Substantial Delays
CONCLUSION11
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

• •4

,

.

r --

:

; -

•

.

. .

÷

ŧ.,

,

۰.

. L.

.

.

, | . .

r

İ.

Cox v. Cox, 976 So.2d 869, 874, 875, 876 (Miss. 2008)
Wallace v. Jones, 572 So.2d 371, 375 (Miss. 1990)
AT&T v. Days Inn of Winona, 720 So.2d 178, 180, 181 (Miss. 1998)
Tricon Metals & Services, Inc. v. Topp, 516 So. 2d 236, 239 (Miss. 1987)5
Hine v. Anchor Lake Property Owners Association, Inc., 911 So. 2d 1001, 1005 (Miss. App. 2005)
Hasty v. Namihira, 2008 WL 170886 at *3 (Miss. App. January 22, 2008)
Hensarling v. Holly, 972 So.2d 716, 721 (Miss. App. 2007)9
STATUTES AND RULES
Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 41(b)

Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure Rules 33 and 34
--

÷

.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff, Gwen Jenkins, commenced the instant medical negligence action against Jeff Anderson Regional Memorial Center d/b/a Anderson Infirmary Benevolent Corp. Associations ("Jeff Anderson") and Dr. Frank Tucker ("Dr. Tucker") by filing her Complaint on February 20, 2001. Jeff Anderson filed its Answer to Plaintiff's Complaint on March 22, 2001.

On August 24, 2001, Jeff Anderson filed its Responses to Plaintiff's First Set of Interrogatories and Request for Production of Documents. Jeff Anderson later filed its First Set of Interrogatories and Requests for Production to Plaintiff on August 30, 2001. Other than Dr. Tucker's several Requests for Subpoena Duces Tecum filed on October 4, 2001, there was no further activity in this matter for the next twenty-one (21) months until Jeff Anderson filed its Motion to Stay Proceedings and Other Relief based on the insolvency of its insurance carrier on May 12, 2003. Plaintiff never responded to Jeff Anderson's Motion to Stay and no order was entered by the trial court.

On June 23, 2003, Jeff Anderson filed a second Motion to Stay Proceedings and Other Relief, requesting a six (6) month stay from the date of the liquidation order, or until December 20, 2003. (R., at 143-49). Again, Plaintiff filed no response and no order was entered by the trial court.

Another year and nine (9) months of inactivity passed before the Clerk of Lauderdale County filed its first Motion to Dismiss for Want of Prosecution on March 24, 2005. (R., at 157). Nearly three (3) weeks after the Motion to Dismiss had been filed, Plaintiff's counsel, Don Evans, submitted a letter to the Court on April 12, 2005, stating that he was unaware that the stay had been lifted (despite the fact that Jeff Anderson only requested a stay until December 20, 2003) and informed the Court that he was attempting to schedule depositions in this matter. (R., at 158-59).

Once again, Plaintiff took no further action for one (1) year and (3) months following Mr. Evans' letter to the Court. The Clerk of Lauderdale County filed its second Motion to Dismiss for Want of Prosecution on July 13, 2006. (R., at 161). Six (6) days later, on July 19, 2006, Plaintiff filed a Motion for Trial Setting and an entry of appearance by Kenneth C. Miller, Esq. (R., at 162-65).

.

i.

On August 31, 2006, Jeff Anderson filed its Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute (R., at 166-85). Dr. Tucker filed a joinder in the same. After considering the parties' briefs and conducting a hearing on the same, the Circuit Court entered its Memorandum Opinion and Judgment dismissing the action for Plaintiff's failure to prosecute on June 20, 2007. (R., at 234-48). The instant appeal followed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the trial court's dismissal of the instant matter. Rule 41(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure discourages dilatory conduct and protects defendants from the prejudice that necessarily arises from it by granting "inherent authority" to the trial court to dismiss an action for failure of the plaintiff to prosecute his claim in a timely manner.

Plaintiff does not dispute that a clear record of delay existed at the time that the Court dismissed the instant action. Dismissal is appropriate upon the trial court's finding of a clear record of delay <u>or</u> the presence of contumacious conduct. Since it is undisputed that a clear record of delay was present, the trial court's order of dismissal is supported by sufficient evidence.

While Plaintiff attempts to discredit the Court's dismissal by arguing that lesser sanctions were not considered, this Court need not look any further than the trial court's fifteen (15) page Memorandum Opinion and Judgment to realize that the trial court indeed weighed the sufficiency of lesser sanctions and found them to be "futile." Even if the trial court had not included an exhaustive list of the lesser sanctions considered, recent caselaw suggests that the appellate court will presume that the trial court made the requisite findings to support a ruling that lesser sanctions would have been insufficient. Plaintiff's argument in this regard is clearly without merit.

Plaintiff also suggests that the substantial delays were attributable to Plaintiff's counsel, as opposed to herself. While that may be true to some extent, at some point Plaintiff must have realized that her attorney was not actively pursuing her claims. After all, by the time the trial court dismissed Plaintiff's action, over five (5) years had passed since her Complaint had been

4

ŧ.

i .

÷

filed. At some point, both the Plaintiff and her attorney share the burden of ensuring that her claims are prosecuted.

ţ

ı.

î

ι

i

ł :

t.

İ

The next point of error that Plaintiff argues is the lack of "aggravating factors." Plaintiff's argument, however, is clearly contrary to the recent decisions of the Supreme Court of Mississippi. While "aggravating factors" are present in the instant action, the trial court's dismissal may be affirmed even in the absence of the same.

Finally, Plaintiff claims that dismissal was inappropriate, because Jeff Anderson did not demonstrate that it was prejudiced by Plaintiff's delays. To the contrary, prejudice was argued by Jeff Anderson and considered by the trial court in its Memorandum Opinion and Judgment. Moreover, by the time the trial court dismissed Plaintiff's action for failure to prosecute, seven (7) years had passed since the contested treatment was rendered in this matter. It is hard to imagine how a medical malpractice defendant is not prejudiced by such a significant time lapse.

In summary, the trial court did not err when it entered a fifteen (15) page Memorandum Opinion and Judgment dismissing Plaintiff's case for failure to prosecute. The trial court found a clear record of delay in Plaintiff's prosecution of this matter. It noted that three (3) separate Motions to Dismiss for failure to prosecute were filed by either the clerk or Defendants, yet Plaintiff made no effort to prosecute her case. Ultimately, the Court pointed out that Plaintiff delayed an additional fourteen (14) months following the clerk's first Motion to Dismiss. Additionally, the Court considered the fact that as of the filing of Jeff Anderson's Motion to Dismiss, Plaintiff had not yet responded to Jeff Anderson's discovery requests filed some five years earlier. While factors other than delay are not required to support a dismissal for failure to prosecute, they were clearly present in this matter. Therefore, the trial court properly dismissed Plaintiff's action due to her failure to prosecute the same in a timely manner.

ARGUMENT

A. <u>Standard of Review for a Rule 41(b) Dismissal</u>

Rule 41(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure provides in pertinent part: "For failure of the plaintiff to prosecute or to comply with these rules or any order of court, a defendant may move for dismissal of an action or of any claim against him." Miss. R. Civ. P. 41(b) (emphasis added). "The power to dismiss for failure to prosecute is granted not only by Rule 41(b), but is part of a trial court's inherent authority and is necessary for 'the orderly expedition of justice and the court's control of its own docket." *Cox v. Cox*, 976 So.2d 869, 874 (Miss. 2008) (quoting *Wallace v. Jones*, 572 So.2d 371, 375 (Miss.1990)).

When reviewing a trial court's Rule 41(b) dismissal for failure to prosecute, this Court should affirm unless it is evident the trial court abused its discretion. *Id.* (citing *AT &T v. Days Inn of Winona*, 720 So.2d 178, 180 (Miss.1998)). This Court also applies an abuse of discretion standard when reviewing a lower court's decision not to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding a dismissal for failure to prosecute pursuant to Rule 41(b). *Id.* (citing *Tricon Metals & Services, Inc. v. Topp*, 516 So.2d 236, 239 (Miss.1987)).

B. It is Undisputed that the Dismissal is Supported by a Clear Record of Delay

į

1

As a threshold issue, if this Court finds that a clear record of delay exists, then it should affirm the trial court's dismissal pursuant to Rule 41(b). Dismissal for failure to prosecute pursuant to Rule 41(b) is appropriate when there is "a clear record of delay *or* contumacious conduct by the plaintiff...." *Cox*, 976 So.2d at 875 (quoting AT & T, 720 So.2d at 181)(emphasis in original). "[W]here a clear record of delay has been shown and even admitted, there is no need for a showing of contumacious conduct." *Hine v. Anchor Lake Property Owners Association, Inc.*, 911 So.2d 1001, 1005 (Miss. App. 2005).

It is undisputed that a clear record of delay exists in the instant action. Plaintiff admits as much in her brief. "There is no dispute that this case sat idle at various times, and that at other times the case was not aggressively pursued by Plaintiff's counsel." (Appellant's Brief, at 8).

£

1

7

5

έ.

ł.

Γ.

ł

In fact, the record is replete with substantial delays caused by Plaintiff's inactivity. For example, following Dr. Tucker's Requests for Subpoena Duces Tecum filed on October 4, 2001, there was no activity in this matter for approximately twenty (20) months until Jeff Anderson filed its Motion to Stay Proceedings and Other Relief based on the insolvency of its insurance carrier on May 12, 2003. Plaintiff did not file any response to this Motion and no order was entered by the Court. A month later, Jeff Anderson filed a second Motion to Stay Proceedings and Other Relief, specifically requesting a limited stay of six (6) months, or until December 20, 2003. (R., at 143 – 149). Once again, Plaintiff filed no response and no order was entered by the Court.

After another year and nine (9) months of inactivity, the Clerk of Lauderdale County filed its first Motion to Dismiss for Want of Prosecution on March 24, 2005. (R., at 157). Three (3) weeks later, having not taken any formal action of record since filing a Notice of Service of Discovery on July 27, 2001, Plaintiff's counsel, Don Evans, submitted a letter to the Court on April 12, 2005, stating that he was unaware that the stay had been lifted (despite the fact that Jeff Anderson only requested a stay until December 20, 2003) and informed the Court that he was attempting to schedule depositions in this matter. (R., at 158-59). However, continued unsuccessful attempts to schedule depositions over an extended period of time, without taking any formal action to subpoena the deponent "can clearly be seen as dilatory conduct." *Hasty v. Namihira*, 2008 WL 170886 at *3 (Miss. App. January 22, 2008)(petition for cert. filed).

Plaintiff obviously disregarded the underlying warning of the Clerk's first Motion to Dismiss for Want of Prosecution, because Plaintiff again allowed the case to lay idle for an

additional one (1) year and three (3) months before the clerk filed its second Motion to Dismiss for Want of Prosecution on July 13, 2006. Despite Plaintiff's minimal attempts to create the appearance of actively pursuing her claims by filing an entry of appearance by Mr. Miller and a Motion for Trial Setting, Jeff Anderson's discovery requests propounded to Plaintiff some sixty (60) months earlier remained unanswered. Consequently, on August 31, 2006, Jeff Anderson filed its Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute (R., at 166-85) asserting, *inter alia*, that Plaintiff's failure to respond to discovery for five (5) years, was yet another example of Plaintiff's dilatory conduct which warranted dismissal pursuant to Rule 41(b) . The Court correctly granted Jeff Anderson's Motion and dismissed Plaintiff's action for failure to prosecute this matter, she has also been dilatory in not responding to discovery in a timely manner." (R., at 247).

1 .

!

ί.

ί.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it held that Plaintiff's repeated extended periods of inactivity in this case – one (1) year and eight (8) months, one (1) year and nine (9) months, and one (1) year and three (3) months – amount to a clear record of extensive delay on Plaintiff's part. Moreover, Plaintiff's disregard for time limits for responding to discovery requests pursuant to Rules 33 and 34 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure is further evidence of her dilatory conduct in this matter. While an examination of the Memorandum Opinion and Judgment clearly indicates that the trial court considered other factors when dismissing Plaintiff's action for failure to prosecute pursuant to Rule 41(b), its finding of a clear record of delay on Plaintiff's part is sufficient in and of itself to support its dismissal of Plaintiff's claims. See, *Cox*, 976 So.2d at 875. Therefore, the trial court's holding should be affirmed.

C. Aggravating Factors Only "Bolster" the Case for Dismissal, but are Not Required

Plaintiff argues that the this Court should reverse the trial court's dismissal, because there is no evidence in the record of any "aggravating factors" such as "the extent to which the plaintiff, as distinguished from his counsel, was personally responsible for the delay, the degree of actual prejudice to the defendant, and whether the delay was the result of intentional conduct." *Cox*, 976 So.2d at 876. Plaintiff's argument is misplaced as there are multiple examples of "aggravating factors" located throughout the record.

However, even if Plaintiff was correct and no evidence of "aggravating factors" existed in the record, such a conclusion would not be automatic grounds for reversal of the trial court's dismissal for failure to prosecute. Again, "factors other than delay are not required." *Id.* at 875. In fact, the Supreme Court of Mississippi recently addressed the role of "aggravating factors" in the review of a Rule 41(b) dismissal and held that "aggravating factors' serve to 'bolster' the case for dismissal, but are not required." *Id.* (citing *AT & T*, 720 So.2d at 181). Therefore, while there is ample evidence to support the existence of "aggravating factors" in the instant action, even in the absence of the same, dismissal of Plaintiff's claims would not have been an abuse of the trial court's discretion.

£

ţ

÷

÷

i.

ł :

Γ.

ł

D. Lesser Sanctions Were Considered by the Trial Court and Found to Be "Futile"

While the availability of lesser sanctions is but one of three factors that may be considered when reviewing an order of dismissal pursuant to Rule 41(b), "it should be noted that the [trial court] need not make a 'showing' that lesser sanctions would not suffice." *Hine*, 911 So.2d at 1005.

Despite Plaintiff's arguments to the contrary, the trial court did consider whether lesser sanctions would be appropriate in its Memorandum Opinion and Judgment and specifically

found them to be "futile." (R., at 247). Plaintiff's argument in this regard is further discredited by the fact that the trial court examined the lack of effect that the clerk's two previous Motions to Dismiss for Want of Prosecution had on Plaintiff's dilatory approach to pursuing her claims. It would have been nothing short of unreasonable for the trial court to impose lesser sanctions when two previous attempts to do so had failed to motivate Plaintiff. Such consideration is sufficient to support dismissal. *See, e.g., Hasty v. Namihira,* 2008 WL 170886 at *3(Miss. App. January 22, 2008)(petition for cert. filed)(prior imposition of lesser sanctions such as a clerk's notice of dismissal is sufficient to demonstrate that lesser sanctions were considered and deemed to be insufficient).

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